6

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 06 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MAURICE ANTHONY ODOM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001294

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in sentencing Appellant to life without parole, pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45, for a burglary second degree conviction when a prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree should not have been considered a most serious offense pursuant to the statute because there is evidence in the record that the conduct was consensual?

2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the indictment for burglary second degree when the State failed to call the case for trial until August 6, 2013, almost six years after the arrest in October of 2007, and then when the first trial ended in a mistrial, the State failed to call the case again for trial until June 8, 2015, almost eight years after arrest in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2013, the Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Odom for burglary second degree, indictment #2013-GS-19-511. The State called the case for trial in August of 2013, but that trial ended in a mistrial. The State then called the case again for trial in June of 2015. Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon on June 8, 2015. Bennett E. Casto and Erik J. Drylie represented Appellant at trial. Ervin J. Maye and H. Franklin Young prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on June 16, 2015. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 17, 2007, just before 2:00 AM two masked men threw a block through the window of the IGA grocery store in Johnston and stole ninety cartons of cigarettes. The store alarm was triggered and the police were notified. As police were investigating the burglary they discovered a white Cadillac parked in the woods about a half a mile from the IGA. (R. p.168, lines 5-9). When the officer shined his flashlight on the Cadillac he saw two people changing clothes and then flee into the woods. (R. p.168, lines 15-24). Officers searched the Cadillac and found identification documents belonging to Appellant. (R. pp. 192-194). Officers also found a bill of sale for the Cadillac reflecting that Dukes Boys Auto Sales sold the car to Demetrius Odom on September 22, 2007. (R p. 203, lines 12-21). The officers also found an insurance identification card with Demetrius Odom's name on it. (R. p. 203, line 22 – p. 204, lines 1-7). Jessie James Dukes from Dukes Boys Auto Sales testified that he sold the Cadillac to Temetrius Odom and Appellant was present at the time of the sale. (R. pp. 289-290).

Officers also found inside the car a cell phone belonging to Appellant as well as another phone. (R. p. 263, line 22 – p. 264, lines 1-17). On the other phone the police called a contact labeled "Momma" and learned that this phone belonged to the co-defendant and Appellant's half brother, Brandon Donaldson. Both Appellant and Donaldson were charged with the IGA burglary. Donaldson testified against Appellant at trial.

ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole, pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45, for a burglary second degree conviction when a prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree should not have been considered a most serious offense pursuant to the statute because there is evidence in the record that the conduct was consensual.

On August 25, 2014, the State filed notice of intent to seek life without parole. The notice is dated August 19, 2014. The notice was served on both Appellant and his counsel. The caption references indictment “#2010-GS-19-511 et al” although Appellant was convicted on indictment #2013-GS-19-00511¹. During the 2015 trial the notice with certificates of service was marked as Court Exhibit #4. (R. p. 448 - Notice of Intent to Seek Life Without Parole). The body of the notice states:

The State of South Carolina hereby notices Maurice Anthony Odom of intent to seek sentencing under Section 17-25-45 (Life Sentence for Person Convicted of Certain Crimes), South Carolina code of Laws, 1976, as amended. The Defendant is currently charged with Burglary Second Degree (Violent), a serious offense. The State hereby provides notice to the Defendant that should he be convicted of the above charge he must be sentenced to a term of imprisonment for life without the possibility of parole pursuant to Section 17-25-45 (A), South Carolina Code of laws, 1976, as amended. The State of South Carolina relies on the Defendant Maurice Anthony Odom having previously been convicted in August 2012² of the offense of Criminal Sexual Conduct With a Minor Second Degree (Indictment No. 97-GS-06-365), and Burglary Second Degree (Violent) (Indictment No. 2012-GS-53-0311) in Laurens County on June 11, 2014. Both of these convictions are serious offenses³, and each are separate “strikes” under Section 17-25-45 (A), South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

(R. p. 448 - Notice of Intent to Seek Life Without Parole).

¹ No objection was made to the notice on this ground and it appears to be a typographical error and the notice should read 2013-GS-19-00511.

² The sentence was imposed on August 2, 2002, after Appellant waived grand jury presentment and pled guilty. Judge Keesley imposed a sentence of five years.

³ Criminal Sexual Conduct with Minors is classified as a most serious offense, except where evidence presented at the criminal proceeding and the court, after the conviction, makes a specific finding on the record that the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor, as contained in Section 16-3-655(3).

After conviction but prior to sentencing, Appellant objected to the imposition of a sentence of life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. Appellant argued that the conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree should not count as a strike because the conduct was consensual. (R. p. 428, lines 21-25; p. 437, lines 6-14). In support of the objection counsel for Appellant submitted a Memorandum, marked as Court's Exhibit #12 (R. p. 471 - Memorandum in Support of Defense Counsel's Challenge to Sentencing Under SC 17-25-45 (LWOP)) and a transcript from the original guilty plea dated October 27, 1997⁴, marked as Court's Exhibit #11 (R. p. 454- October 27, 1997, Guilty Plea Transcript). The indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree, #97-GS-06-365, and the sentencing sheet from the subsequent guilty plea on August 12, 2002, were marked as Court's Exhibit #3. (R. p. 445 - Indictment #97-GS-06-365 and sentencing sheet). The Appellant also marked an incident report in reference to the criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment as Court's Exhibit #10. (R. p. 425 - Incident Report).

The State argued, "But in the case that we have at hand, Your Honor – and Burdette says basically once an indictment informs the defendant of the charges against him 17-25-45(h) only requires the solicitor inform the defendant the recidivist statute will apply on conviction. We certainly did that in this case." (R. p. 430 lines 3-8). The State also argued that a sentence of life without parole could be based on additional convictions that were not included in the notice. (R. p. 434, lines 2 – p. 432, lines 1-16). The State then argued that the criminal sexual conduct with a

⁴ This conviction was reversed in Odom v. State, 350 S.C. 300, 566 S.E.2d 528 (2002) overruled by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). On August 12, 2002, Appellant appeared before the Honorable William P. Keesley, waived presentment of the indictment to the Barnwell County Grand Jury and again pled guilty to Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor Second Degree, indictment #97-GS-06-365. The transcript from the subsequent 2002 guilty plea is no longer available. (R. p. 433, lines 3-8).

minor second degree conviction should count as a strike because the current version of S.C. Code §16-3-655, which provides that a person may not be convicted of a violation of the provisions of this item if he is eighteen years of age or less when he engages in consensual sexual conduct with another person who is at least fourteen years of age, was not in place at the time of the guilty plea and even if the current version of the law applied to the 2002 guilty plea, the current version requires the actor to be eighteen or less and, according to the State, Appellant was nineteen years of age⁵ at the time of the conduct. (R. p. 433, lines 3-19).

The trial judge properly refused to consider convictions not included in the notice of intent to seek life without parole. (R. p. 436, line 12 – p. 437, 438, lines 1-22). The judge limited his ruling to whether the criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree conviction should count as a strike pursuant to S.C. Code §17-25-45. The judge first ruled, relying on State v. Payne, 332 S.C. 266, 504 S.E.2d 335 (Ct. App. 1998), that “the defendant bears the burden of proof in collateral –prior convictions that the State seeks to use in the sentence enhancement statute.” (R. p. 439, lines 5-7). The judge’s reliance on Payne is misplaced as Appellant did not challenge the prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Instead, Appellate challenged whether the conviction qualified as a most serious offense.

The trial judge erred in placing the burden on the Appellant. In seeking an LWOP sentence based upon section 17-25-45, the State bears the burden of establishing the defendant's prior convictions for serious or most serious offenses. See State v. Phillips, 400 S.C. 460, 734 S.E.2d 650 (2012); State v. Lindsey, 355 S.C. 15, 583 S.E.2d 740 (2003). The State bore the

⁵ The trial judge correctly calculated Appellant’s age at the time of the conduct as twenty one. (R. p. 440, lines 1-6)

burden of establishing that Appellant's prior criminal sexual conduct with a minor conviction qualified as a most serious offense. The State failed to meet its burden.

S.C. Code §17-25-45 (C)(1) lists most serious offenses. Criminal sexual conduct with minors is included in the list of most serious offenses, "except where evidence presented at the criminal proceeding and the court, after the conviction, makes a specific finding on the record that the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor, as contained in Section **16-3-655(3).**"

Prior to amendments in 2005 and 2006, S.C. Code §**16-3-655(3)** read, "A person is guilty if criminal sexual conduct in the second degree if the actor engages in a sexual battery with a victim who is at least fourteen years of age but who is less than sixteen years of age and the actor is in a position of familial, custodial, or official authority to coerce the victim to submit **or is older than the victim.**" The current version of S.C. Code §16-3-655(B)(2) provides that:

A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree if: the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is at least fourteen years of age but who is less than sixteen years of age and the actor is in a position of familial, custodial, or official authority to coerce the victim to submit or is older than the victim. However, a person may not be convicted of a violation of the provisions of this item if he is eighteen years of age or less when he engages in consensual sexual conduct with another person who is at least fourteen years of age.

The reference to §16-3-655(3) in the LWOP statute, §17-25-45, appears to reference the older version of the statute in effect prior to the 2005/2006 amendments and the version in effect at the time Appellant entered his guilty plea in 2002 rather than §16-3-655(B)(2)..

The judge acknowledged that the current version of S.C. Code §16-3-655 was not in place at the time of the initial guilty plea in 1996 writing, "Now, I take that although 16-3-655(b) was not

the law in '96 when it was heard. The legislature referred to it and asked and, therefore, if I look at the terms of 16-3-655(b), I find that Mr. Odom was not fit in that because he was older than 18 at the time although she might at her age; he was not." (R. p. 442, lines 1-6). The trial judge erred. Appellant did not argue that pursuant to the current version of §16-3-655(B)(2) he should not have been prosecuted. Instead, relying on the plain reading of §17-25-45, Appellant argued that because the conduct was consensual and he was older than the minor, the conviction does not constitute a strike for purposes of sentencing.

The judge also erroneously relied on Judge Keesley's sentencing order requiring that Appellant register as a sex offender in determining that the conduct was not consensual. (R. p. 442, line 7 – p. 443, lines 1-3). Sex offender registry and consensual conduct are not mutually exclusive. At age twenty one Appellant had consensual sexual conduct with a fourteen year old. While the conduct is illegal and Appellant is required to register as a sex offender, pursuant to §17-25-45, the conviction is not a most serious offense.

The judge finally ruled that there was not sufficient evidence in the record to establish that the conduct was consensual. (R. p. 443, lines 1-12). As discussed above, the State bore the burden of establishing that the prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor second degree was a most serious offense as defined by §17-25-45. The State failed to meet its burden. In the incident report marked as Court's Exhibit #10 the investigator wrote, "Victim stated that she had had sex with subject on three different occasions; once in June of 1996, once in August of 1996." (R. p. 425 Incident Report). The investigator also wrote in the report that Appellant admitted that he had sex with the victim three times but she led him to believe that she was nineteen years old. (R. p. 425, Incident Report). The police were contacted after the minor learned that she was pregnant.

In the transcript of the original guilty plea, marked as State's Exhibit #11, the Assistant Solicitor told the judge, "Mr. Odom had an ongoing relationship with a fifteen-year-old juvenile. She became pregnant and has since had a child. She indicates that Mr. Odom is the only one that could be the father. I believe he has already admitted that to her and the contact they had was within her home. I believe the mother knew about it. Later on she got ahold of law enforcement and these warrants were from that incidents." (R. p. 454, Guilty plea transcript dated October 27, 1997, p. 11, lines 1-9).

Pursuant to §17-25-45 a conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor is a most serious offense except where evidence presented at the criminal proceeding and the court, after the conviction, makes a specific finding on the record that the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor, as contained in Section 16-3-655(3). In the present case the State failed to meet its burden of proving that Appellant's conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor was a most serious offense. There was evidence in the record that Appellant's conviction resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor as contained in Section 16-3-655(3) of the statute in effect at the time Appellant pled guilty. The judge erred in finding that there was not sufficient evidence in the record to establish that the conduct was consensual and sentencing Appellant to life without parole.

2. The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment for burglary second degree when the State failed to call the case for trial until August 6, 2013, almost six years after the arrest in October of 2007, and then when the first trial ended in a mistrial, the State failed to call the case again for trial until June 8, 2015, almost eight years after arrest in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial.

Appellant was arrested for the IGA burglary in October 30, 2007. (R. p. 41, lines 10-14).

The State did not seek an indictment until almost six years later in August of 2013, when the State initially called the case for a trial that ended in mistrial because of a hung jury. (R.1 p. 39, lines 1-

5). The State did not call the case for trial a second time for almost two more years after the mistrial. Prior to trial on June 8, 2015, Appellant moved to dismiss the indictment based on the State's violation of Appellant's right to a speedy trial guaranteed under both the state and federal constitutions. (R. p. 33, lines 15-22).

The trial judge denied the motion to dismiss writing:

I don't think -- I know the State has the burden of proof in this case beyond a reasonable doubt. But it's almost, I guess, akin to civil laches, it rests back on your lawyers and your rights and then you have an "ah-ha" moment. And I realize he has to have a duty to -- to prove that he's not guilty, he's innocent. I would respectfully deny the motion based on that.

(R. p. 51, lines 18-24). The trial judge erred.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial." U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution guarantees that "[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial." S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. In determining whether a defendant has been deprived of the right to a speedy trial, the Court must consider four factors: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of the right; and, (4) prejudice to the defendant. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33

L.Ed2d 101 (1972). In State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution guarantees that “[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy ... trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused's defense. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 107, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978).

The speedy trial right “is designed to minimize the possibility of lengthy incarceration prior to trial, to reduce the lesser, nevertheless substantial impairment of liberty imposed on an accused while released on bail, and to shorten the disruption of life caused by arrest and the presence of unresolved criminal charges.” United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982); State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007).

1. Length of the Delay

Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is arbitrary and unreasonable. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). In a footnote in Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992) the Court wrote, “Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found post accusation delay ‘presumptively prejudicial’ at least as it approaches one year.” Doggett Fn. 1

In Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) this Court wrote:

We begin our analysis with the “triggering mechanism” of a speedy trial claim, which is the length of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182. We should not even examine the remaining factors “[u]ntil there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial.” Id. The clock starts running on a defendant's speedy trial right when he is “indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused,” and

therefore we are to include the time between arrest and indictment. United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982).

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