STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Edgefield County  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MAURICE ANTHONY ODOM,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2015-001294

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Lexington County Judicial Center  
205 East Main Street  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 359-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court did not err in sentencing Appellant to life without parole based on Appellant's 1994 convictions for CSC with a minor and burglary because no finding was made by the original sentencing court that the sexual conduct for Appellant's CSC conviction was consensual and because Appellant's 2015 burglary conviction supplied the requisite second strike regardless of whether the CSC conviction could be used under the recidivist statute.**

Odom argues the trial court erred in finding Odom's prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree could be used to enhance his sentence to life without parole. The trial court did not err because the original sentencing court did not make a finding that the sexual conduct between Odom and his victim from the prior conviction was consensual. Further, Odom pled guilty to a violent burglary shortly after he was served with the notice of life without parole, therefore Odom gained a sufficient amount of strikes for the State to seek, and the trial court to sentence, Odom to life without parole.

At the time of the offense, under S.C. Code §16-3-655(3), a person was guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree if the person engaged "in sexual battery with a victim who is at least fourteen years of age but who is less than sixteen years of age and the actor is in a position of familial, custodial, or official authority to coerce the victim to submit or is older than the victim."

S.C. Code §17-25-45, the life without parole statute, was substantially amended by 1995 Act. No. 83, §18. As part of this amendment, the legislature enumerated a number of offenses as either serious or most serious offenses. In particular, under §17-25-45(C)(1), the legislature specified the conditions under which criminal sexual conduct with a minor would be considered a serious offense:

16-3-655 Criminal sexual conduct with minors, except where evidence is presented at the criminal proceeding and the court, after the conviction, makes a specific finding on the record that the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor, as contained in Section 16-3-655(3).

S.C. Code §17-25-45 (Supp. 1996).

This identical language remains in the current statute, even though section 16-3-655(3) is no longer correct citation. S.C. Code §17-25-45 (Supp. 2015). The legislature subsequently amended S.C. Code §16-3-655 in 2005, and redesignated paragraphs (1) to (3) as paragraphs (A) to (C). 2005 Act. No. 94 §1. In 2006, the legislature amended S.C. Code § 16-3-655 to include what is commonly referred to as the “Romeo provision,” that only becomes applicable if the actor is under eighteen years of age and the victim is fourteen or older. 2006 Act No. 342 § 3. Further, §16-3-655(C) was redesignated as §16-3-655(B)(2). *Id.* However, the legislature failed to update S.C. Code § 17-25-45 to reflect the structural changes in S.C. Code 16-3-655 in either the 2005 or 2006 amendments.<sup>1</sup>

Judge McMahon did not err in finding that the CSC conviction was appropriate for enhancement because under the plain language of §17-25-45, exclusion as a most serious offense only occurs when “the court, after the conviction, makes a specific finding on the record that the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct where the victim was younger than the actor, as contained in Section 16-3-655(3).” (Emphasis added). In the instant case,

---

<sup>1</sup> On a related note, at the time of sentencing on August 12, 2002, a person convicted for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor under §16-3-655(3) was automatically required to register on the sex offender registry unless “the conviction obtained for this offense resulted from consensual sexual conduct, as contained in Section 16-3-655(3) provided the offender is eighteen years of age or less, or consensual sexual conduct between persons under sixteen years of age, the convicted person is not an offender and is not required to register pursuant to the provisions of this article.” S.C. Code §23-3-430 (Supp. 2001). Accordingly, Odom was too old at the time of the

after accepting the plea, Judge Brown did not make any finding on whether or not the offense resulted from consensual conduct. Further, the plain language of the statute dictates any finding shall be made by “the court, after conviction,” a clear reference to the presiding judge over the conviction and sentence, and not a judge presiding over a subsequent charge. Seckinger v. The Vessel, Excalibur, 326 S.C. 382, 483 S.E.2d 775 (Ct. App. 1997) (Statutory language should be given its plain and ordinary meaning unless something else in the statute requires an alternative meaning).

Additionally, life without parole was required because Odom gained an additional conviction for second degree burglary that Judge McMahon erroneously refused to consider. Notice for life without parole was served on August 14, 2014. On January 5, 2015, Odom pled guilty to burglary in the second degree, violent offense, in Newberry County before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Under §17-25-45(H), the solicitor is required to serve written notice that the State is seeking life without parole on the defendant and the defendant’s attorney ten days prior to trial. However, §17-25-45(H) does not contain a requirement that the defendant be informed of which of the defendant’s prior convictions constitutes strikes or will otherwise be relied upon.

The solicitor in the instant case cited both State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 515 S.E.2d 525 (1999) and James v. State, 372 S.C. 287, 641 S.E.2d 899 (2007), when the solicitor argued that Odom’s 2015 conviction provided an additional strike. Burdette controls the result. In Burdette, the appellant argued the notice of intent to seek life without parole under §17-25-45 required a listing of the offenses triggering the recidivist statute’s application and without a list, he could not be “fully informed” of the nature of the charges against him. The Supreme Court observed that under §17-25-45(H), the State is required to give notice to the defendant that it seeks to apply the recidivist statute, offense to qualify for the registry statute’s Romeo clause and was required to register on the registry.

but noted the statute did not address the content requirement for the notice. Burdette, 335 S.C. at 38-39, 515 S.E.2d 525, 527-28. The Supreme Court rejected the appellant's argument, finding as follows:

[S]ection 17-25-45(H) only requires the solicitor inform the defendant that the recidivist sentencing statute will be applied upon conviction. Specifically listing the triggering charge from the current case is unnecessary because Defendant has been fully informed of the charges against him in the indictment, and he has been informed that the State will apply the recidivist statute. Determining which of the indicted offenses triggers the statute merely requires looking at the list of offenses listed in section 17-25-45.

Id. at 39-40, 515 S.E.2d at 528, accord James v. State, 372 S.C. 287, 295, 641 S.E.2d 899, 905 (2007) (“[S]o long as the defendant and his counsel, at least ten days prior to trial, possess actual notice of the State’s intention to seek a sentence under South Carolina’s recidivist statute, the statute has been satisfied.”).

In the instant case, Odom did not contest that he pled to a serious offense only a few months prior to trial and after he was already served with notice the solicitor was seeking life without parole, so as a matter of law, Judge McMahon should have considered the 2015 burglary conviction as a strike, thus meeting the three strikes provision of §17-25-45.

Accordingly, Odom was properly sentenced to life without parole under §17-25-45 because: (1) no finding was made that Odom’s CSC conviction stemmed from consensual conduct and (2) the 2015 burglary conviction along with the 1994 burglary conviction provided the requisite strikes to trigger a life without parole sentence, regardless of whether the CSC conviction was sufficient under the recidivist statute.

## II.

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion to dismiss the case based on speedy trial grounds. Appellant caused a substantial portion of the delay. Appellant did not move for a speedy trial until the start of his second trial. Appellant failed to establish prejudice attributable to the delay. Further, Appellant failed to show that the State intentionally or maliciously delayed trial.**

Odom failed to appear for court. He later changed attorneys several times. Odom was frequently jailed in other counties as he accumulated new burglary charges elsewhere. Odom began his second trial moving to relieve his attorney and hire a prior attorney. Presumably, if his motion was granted, trial would have been delayed further. Upon denial of this motion, Odom's counsel moved, for the first time, for a speedy trial although he was unable to show actual prejudice from the delay. The trial court did not err in denying Odom's motion to dismiss based on an alleged violation of his right to a speedy trial.

An accused is entitled to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and under Article 1, Section 14, of the Constitution of South Carolina.

Whether or not a person accused of crime has been denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial is a question to be answered in the light of the circumstances of each case. A speedy trial does not mean an immediate one; it does not imply undue haste, for the state, too, is entitled to a reasonable time in which to prepare its case; it simply means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay.

Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966). The United States Supreme Court (USSC) explained: "The right of a speedy trial is necessarily relative. It is consistent with delays and depends upon circumstances. It secures rights to a defendant. It does not preclude the rights of public justice." Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 87 (1905); see also, Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S.

514, 522 (1972) (finding “any inquiry into a speedy trial claim necessitates a functional analysis of the right in the particular context of the case”).

The South Carolina Supreme Court observed the following:

The Supreme Court of the United States has deemed this right “generically different from any of the other rights enshrined in the Constitution for the protection of the accused.” . . . This is due in large part to the reality that “[d]elay is not an uncommon defense tactic” and “deprivation of the right to a speedy trial does not per se prejudice the accused’s ability to defend himself.”

State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440-41, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012) (quoting Barker).

The Barker court identified several factors in determining whether a defendant was denied the right to a speedy trial including: (1) the length of delay, (2) the reason the government uses to explain the delay, (3) when and how the defendant asserted his speedy trial right, and (4) the prejudice to the defendant. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530; see also, State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (citing factors for consideration). “The length of the delay is to some extent a triggering mechanism. Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go into the balance.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 530.

In the instant case, the delay is sufficient to trigger further review. See State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978) (finding delay of two years and four months sufficient to trigger further review). The delay was substantial, almost six years until the first trial, under two years thereafter for the next. The crime occurred October 17, 2007, and Odom was arrested on October 30, 2007. Odom’s second trial started on June 8, 2015, seven years and eight months later.

However, the delay was occasioned by several factors. The State noted Odom made bond after being arrested on the charges. Odom bonded out in February 2008. R. p. 38, lines 6-8; p. 41,

line 21. Odom amassed new charges in other counties at a dizzying rate and was incarcerated on some of those other charges. Odom was not incarcerated, nor did the State seek to revoke his bond, on the Edgefield charges. R. p. 38. The State noted that Odom never filed a motion for speedy trial. R. p. 38.

Odom managed to stay out of trouble for about seven months after making bond, until he was arrested for a Lexington County burglary, for which he received a bond in September 2008. The solicitor noted that Odom also had Barnwell charges pending that predated these charges. He subsequently was charged in Laurens and Newberry counties to boot. Judge Keesley set a curfew in lieu of revoking his bond after Odom picked up new charges in Lexington County. R. pp. 42-43. Odom was first represented by Greg Seigler, Esquire, but Odom subsequently retained Marion Moses, Esquire, for his 2008 bond hearing. R. p. 43. The prosecution noted some uncertainty existed as to whether Moses would continue to represent Odom: "We at first thought Mr. Moses would have him on all of this, and he ended up just representing him for the purposes of the bond hearing, Your Honor." R. p. 43, lines 10-17.

Notably, Odom failed to appear on February 12, 2009. At that point, the prosecution dismissed the indictments. Odom failed to provide a reason for his failure to appear. R. pp. 43-44; p. 47, lines 23-25. The trial court noted the failure to appear and addressed it to Odom's attorney, observing, "He could or could not have been in jail. I don't know the answer to that question, but he wasn't here." R. p. 47, line 23 – p. 48, line 2. Rather than offer an explanation for the failure to appear, Odom's counsel merely confirmed the trial court's observation with "Yes, sir." R. p. 48, line 3. Accordingly, it seems likely Odom failed to appear not because he was incarcerated elsewhere, but because he chose not to appear. Nonetheless, Odom became a fugitive on February 12, 2009,

and no evidence indicates Odom made any attempt to contact the Solicitor's Office, the Court, or the Clerk of Court after February 2009.

Odom was finally incarcerated in 2011 on charges in the Eighth Judicial Circuit. R. p. 44. The instant case was called for trial on August 6, 2013 and ended in a mistrial. R. p. 39. The State noted it attempted to call the case prior to 2013, but the case was delayed because Odom changed lawyers from Seigler, who was appointed, to Jerry Screen, Esquire, who Odom's family hired. The State noted the discovery process started all over. R. p. 39, lines 7-10. After the mistrial, Screen was relieved, stating he was only retained to try the case one time. Apparently that motion was granted and the public defender's office was appointed. R. p. 39.

Accordingly, the State offered a reasonable accounting for the delays, which Odom's counsel did not refute. They include the fact Odom was represented by three different attorneys prior to the August 2013 trial, and a fourth for the June 2015 trial. More importantly, Odom inexcusably failed to appear rendering himself a fugitive. The prosecution needed to dismiss the indictment. R. pp. 43-44; p. 70, lines 23-25.

In Smith v. State, 579 S.E.2d 829 (Ga. Ct. App. 2003), the defendant argued he was denied a speedy trial due to a nearly fourteen-year delay. The delay was occasioned by his failure to appear for trial. The Georgia Court of Appeals observed, "Smith, with full knowledge of his duty to report for trial, and the consequences of his failure to do so, left DeKalb County and failed to appear for trial. He avoided arrest on the outstanding bench warrant for almost 14 years." Id. at 406. Nonetheless, Smith argued that Georgia was negligent in tracking him down and the negligence caused the delay and violation of his speedy trial rights. The court scoffed, "Criminal procedure is not a game, and one who fails to appear as noticed and leaves the prosecuting county will not be

heard to complain that the State failed to thwart his wrongdoing.” Id.

Odom also found himself in and out of a number of county jails. Vermont v. Brillon, 129 S.Ct. 1283, 1290 (2009) (noting “delay caused by the defense weighs against the defendant . . .”); Pittman, 373 S.C. at 551, 647 S.E.2d at 156 (“While the ultimate responsibility for timely completion of the trial rests with the State, the defense’s contributions to the delay cannot be ignored.”).

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